STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

FEB 27 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BILLY LEMURCES TAYLOR,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-000549

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in not declaring a mistrial after the jurors declared they were at an impasse and, instead, giving a coercive Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896) charge?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 4, 2016, appellant was indicted by a Greenville County grand jury for murder, two counts of attempted murder, and a weapons charge. R. _____. On February 29, 2016, appellant was tried before the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell and a jury. Tr. 1. Mark Moyer represented the State. Tr. 1. Frank Eppes and Carter Massingill represented appellant. Tr. 1. The jury convicted appellant. Tr. 565, l. 4 – 566, l. 9. Judge Stilwell sentenced appellant to forty years' imprisonment for murder and concurrent terms of thirty years' imprisonment on the two attempted murder charges and five years' imprisonment on the weapons charge. Tr. 582, l. 8 – 583, l. 3. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in not declaring a mistrial after the jurors declared they were at an impasse and, instead, giving a coercive *Allen v. United States*, 164 U.S. 492 (1896) charge.

On the night of February 22, 2014, a massive fight occurred at a nightclub in Greenville. Tr. 90, l. 7 – 91, l. 16. The security guards maced nearly everyone inside of the club. Tr. 90, l. 7 – 91, l. 16. As the occupants spilled into the parking lot, there were gunshots. Tr. 92, ll. 2 – 24. Many people from the club went to a nearby gas station to buy milk to pour on their faces to relieve the effects of the mace. Tr. 102, l. 1 – 105, l. 6. More fighting occurred in the parking lot of the gas station. Tr. 102, l. 1 – 105, l. 6.

Ashley Hiott, Brittany Jeter, and Jermaine Nesbitt were in the club, but were not part of the group fighting. Tr. 90, ll. 7 – 17. They left in Hiott's Tahoe and went to the gas station. Tr. 102, l. 9 – 103, l. 22. Hiott noticed a distinctive Camaro at the gas station. Tr. 105, l. 15 – 106, l. 10.

When Hiott's group left the gas station, the Camaro followed and pulled alongside her Tahoe. Tr. 108, l. 7 – 112, l. 14. Jeter was in the front passenger seat and Nesbitt was in the backseat. Tr. 108, l. 7 – 112, l. 14. Hiott saw three men in the Camaro, but did not know any of them and could not identify appellant as one of the men. Tr. 108, l. 7 – 112, l. 14.

The men in the Camaro began yelling trying to get the girls' attention. Tr. 120, l. 22 – 123, l. 22. Nesbitt yelled back at the men that the girls were with him. Tr. 120, l. 22 – 123, l. 22. The men in the Camaro yelled, "Fuck you," and Nesbitt replied, "Fuck you, too." Tr. 120, l. 22 – 123, l. 22.

Hiott then heard a gunshot. Tr. 122, ll. 13 – 14. Jeter heard two gunshots. Tr. 441, ll. 12 – 18. Hiott was shot in the head, but survived. Tr. 84, l. 23 – 85, l. 9. Nesbitt died from a

gunshot wound to the head. Tr. 182, l. 11 – 183, l. 183, l. 1. Jeter was not injured. Tr. 441, l. 12 – 443, l. 13.

The State's theory of the case was that appellant was the driver of the Camaro and the shooter and that Anthony Henderson and Deunte Jones were the passengers. Tr. 522, l. 9 – 524, l. 9. Both Henderson and Jones testified for the State that appellant was the shooter. Tr. 344, l. 25 – 348, l. 21. Tr. 402, l. 12 – 405, l. 24. Henderson was also charged with murder and attempted murder, but claimed he had not been promised anything by the State in exchange for his testimony. Tr. 320, l. 18 – 321, l. 10. Henderson and Jones were very good friends and had seen each other as recently as a week before trial. Tr. 373, ll. 14 – 25. Henderson and Jones' cousin had a child together. Tr. 374, ll. 1 – 2.

While Henderson was out on bond for this crime, he posted pictures of himself on Facebook with a semi-automatic weapon and messages indicating he would kill anyone who ran afoul of him. Tr. 374, l. 3 – 377, l. 9. (Defendant's Ex. 3 and 4). Henderson claimed he had nothing to do with the shooting except for being in the Camaro. Tr. 368, ll. 2 – 6. Jones had also posted threatening pictures of himself and Henderson on Facebook. Tr. 410, ll. 6 – 19. (Defendant's Ex. 3 and 4). Both Henderson and Jones also gave statements to the police that conflicted with their trial testimony. Tr. 377, l. 18 – 381, l. 11. Tr. 411, l. 4 – 420, l. 4.

The jury began deliberations at noon. Tr. 553, ll. 13 -1 14. They asked a question about the court's hand of one, hand of all charge and returned to the jury room at 1:50 PM. Tr. 553, l. 17 – 556, l. 9. The jury deliberated another five hours and returned to the courtroom at 7:20 PM. Tr. 556, l. 17 – 557, l. 13. The jury had sent a note to the trial judge that they were at an impasse. Tr. 556, l. 17 – 557, l. 13. The court sent the jury home for the evening. Tr. 557, l. 14 – 559, l. 19.

The next morning, Judge Stilwell told the attorneys he was going to give the jury a “standard” Allen charge, but when defense counsel asked to see it, the judge said he did not have it written down. Tr. 560, ll. 2 – 11. The court then gave the jury the following charge:

Good morning, everybody, welcome back. Thank you for being on time. I do appreciate it. Ladies and gentlemen, I recognize that last night you sent me a note that indicated that you were at an impasse and you told me the division that you had in that note as well.

Now, I understand that the decision that you have to make is very difficult. And when you get 12 people together, it’s difficult to have 12 people agree. Particularly, when you come from different walks of life and you’re just thrown together on a jury, it’s difficult to make that decision. I know that, oftentimes, it’s difficult for two people to make a decision. It’s hard for my wife and I to figure out what we’re going to eat for supper sometimes. So, this decision, I recognize is hard.

But understand that **it’s important that you come to a decision in this case.** Understand that both the State and the Defense **have extended significant resources and time and effort to get to this point. Also, know that the State and the County has extended resources to get to this point as well.** And if you’re unable to come to this verdict in this matter, then, essentially, we’d be left with having to do it all over again, **extending additional resources, time and effort.** Now, ladies and gentlemen, I will tell you that there are no 12 other people in the County of Greenville who are more capable or competent to come to a decision in this matter than the 12 of you are.

Now, again, I understand it’s hard to come to a decision. But those of you who are in the majority should listen to the people in the minority. Those of you who are in the minority should listen to the people in the majority. You should take into consideration your respective positions and **you should come to a decision in this matter. Again, it really would be a waste of time, effort and resources for us to have to do all of those over again.** So, I’m going to ask you to go back to your jury room and resume your deliberations. Thank you, very much.

Tr. 560, l. 12 – 562, l. 8 (emphasis added). The jury left at 9:10 AM and returned with its guilty verdicts at 11:43 AM. Tr. 562, l. 7 – 565, l. 3.

Immediately after dismissing the jury back for their deliberations after the Allen charge, defense counsel placed on the record that he had objected the night before to the giving of the

Allen charge. Tr. 562, ll. 12 – 15. Defense counsel moved for a mistrial which was denied. Tr. 562, l. 12 – 563, l. 23. Defense counsel asked the court to bring back the jury and tell them that a hung jury was “a legitimate end of a criminal trial” and is sometimes the result of the state’s burden to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt. Tr. 562, l. 12 – 563, l. 23. Defense counsel also objected to the Allen charge as unduly coercive. Tr. 562, l. 12 – 563, l. 23. The trial court denied appellant’s motions. Tr. 562, l. 12 – 563, l. 23.

The trial judge erred in its Allen charge and it coerced the verdict. See State v. Pauling, 322 S.C. 95, 470 S.E.2d 106 (1996). “The trial judge has the duty to urge the jury to reach a verdict, but he may not coerce it.” Id. at 99, 470 S.E.2d at 108-09. The charge given by the trial judge in Pauling was upheld, but it contained a crucial point that Judge Stilwell’s charge lacked—that the jurors should not “give up any well-founded conscientious convictions.” Id. at 97, 470 S.E.2d at 108. Judge Stillwell’s charge repeatedly emphasized that a new trial would be a “waste” of time and resources and, more importantly, never told the jury that they did not have to give up their own individual convictions. Instead, he repeatedly told them they “should” come to a decision.


The trial judge’s decision here is much like the charge held coercive in Tucker v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 483, 552 S.E.2d 712 (2001). In Tucker, the Court held the charge coercive because it unduly emphasized that the jury should reach a verdict, was directed at the minority, and the jury returned a verdict shortly after the charge. Id. The Tucker charge was held coercive even though the trial judge told the jurors not to violate their individual consciences. Here, the same coercive factors are present plus the lack of any direction that the jurors should not give up strongly held, well-founded beliefs just to reach a unanimous verdict.

The charge was also directed at the minority. The note the jury sent to the judge indicating an impasse appears to show multiple votes on each charge. R. ___ (Court's Ex. 4). For example, it shows four votes on the murder charge with the final vote before declaring an impasse showing two for not guilty and ten for guilty. R. ___ (Court's Ex. 4). On the attempted murder charges, the votes were 7-5 in favor of guilty on the charge regarding Jeter and 8-4 on the charge regarding Hiott. R. ___ (Court's Ex. 4). While the record does not indicate that the trial judge forced the jury to reveal their numerical vote, which is improper, the revelation of the vote increases the coercive effect because the minority knows the Allen charge is directed at them. See State v. Middleton, 218 S.C. 452, 63 S.E.2d 163 (1951) (holding it is improper for the court to make the jury publicly reveal its vote count).

During the beginning of the court's Allen charge, he emphasized to the jury that he knew their numerical division. Tr. 560, ll. 17 – 20. The comments about the “waste of time” could be directed at no persons other than the two not guilty jurors and would certainly have (and did have) an effect on them. The effect of the Allen charge here was to negate the entire day's previous deliberations and force the jury to reach a verdict despite the State not meeting its burden of proof in the judgment of some jurors. This case should be reversed.

CONCLUSION

For the above-stated reasons, appellant's convictions should be reversed and this case remanded for a new trial.

A handwritten signature in black ink, appearing to read 'DAVID ALEXANDER', written over a horizontal line.

David Alexander
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT