ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
The Honorable Robin B. Stillwell, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-000549

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BILLY LEMURCES TAYLOR,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ALPHONSO SIMON JR.
Assistant Attorney General
South Carolina Attorney General's Office
PO Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit
305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville County Courthouse
Greenville, South Carolina 29601

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Taylor's motion for a mistrial. The trial court's decision to give an Allen charge was warranted by the duration of the jury's deliberations before the jury indicated it reached an impasse, and the charge that was given was not unconstitutionally coercive in light of the context in which it was given and under all of the circumstances presented.**

What occurred at trial

During the evening of March 3, 2016, the judge received a note from the jury that they were at an impasse. (R. p. 499). The court marked the note as Court Exhibit 4. (R. p. 499). The note also outlined the divisions of the jury for each of the charges. (Court Exhibit 4; R. p.529). After discussing the matter with counsel in chambers, the court decided to release the jury for the evening and to bring them back the next morning at 9 a.m. (R. p. 499). At 9 a.m., the court would give the jury the Allen⁴ charge, and then the court would allow the jury to continue to deliberate. (R. p. 499). The court then brought in the jurors and released them for the evening. (R. pp. 499-500).

Starting at 9:05 the next morning, the judge gave the jury the following instructions:

Good morning, everybody, welcome back. Thank you for being on time. I do appreciate it. Ladies and gentlemen, I recognize that last night you sent me a note that indicated that you were at an impasse and you told me the division that you had in that note as well.

Now, I understand that the decision that you have to make is very difficult. And when you get 12 people together, it's difficult to have 12 people agree. Particularly, when you come from different walks of life and you're just thrown together on a jury, it's difficult to make that decision. I know that, oftentimes, it's difficult for two people, just two people to make

⁴ Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492, 17 S. Ct. 154 (1896).

a decision. It's hard for my wife and I to figure out what we're going to eat for supper sometimes. So, this decision, I recognize is hard.

But understand that it's important that you come to a decision in this case. Understand that both the State and the Defense have extended significant resources and time and effort to get to this point. Also, know that the State and the County has extended resources to get to this point as well. And if you're unable to come to this verdict in this matter, then, essentially, we'd be left with having to do it all over again, extending additional resources, time and effort. Now, ladies and gentlemen, I will tell you that there are no 12 other people in the County of Greenville who are more capable or competent to come to a decision in this matter than the 12 of you are.

Now, again, I understand it's hard to come to a decision. But those of you who are in the majority should listen to the people in the minority. Those of you who are in the minority should listen to the people in the majority. You should take into consideration your respective positions and you should come to a decision in this matter. Again, it really would be a waste of time, effort and resources for us to have to do all of those over again. So, I'm going to ask you to go back to your jury room and resume your deliberations. Thank you, very much.

(R. p. 502, l 15 – p. 504, l 6).

After the jury left for deliberations, the court asked if there were any exceptions to the charge. Taylor first noted for the record that he objected to the request for an Allen charge on the previous night in chambers, and his objection was denied. (R. p. 504). The trial court acknowledged that occurred. (R. p. 504). Then Taylor moved for a mistrial instead of the Allen charge. (R. p. 504). Third, Taylor requested the court bring the jury back “and tell them that a hung jury is a legitimate end of a criminal trial and is the occasionally inevitable result that requires a unanimous verdict beyond a reasonable doubt.” (R. p. 504, ll 20-23).

In response, the Court stated,

Okay. All right. I appreciate your motions in that regard. I think I recited the appropriate standard of law to be applied in the Allen charge. I also think that it is well accepted in juris prudence not only in the State of

South Carolina, but in the United States for the Allen charge to be administered when a jury has indicated that they have reached an impasse. Now, certainly, public policy can change if the Supreme Court of the United States and the Supreme Court of South Carolina decides that's an inappropriate charge, I certainly would defer to them. But as it stands, it's allowable. And I think in terms of -- simply in terms of judicial economy, it's appropriate. So, respectfully, I understand your position, but I'll deny your motions.

(R. p. 504, l 24 – p. 505, l 14).

Taylor then added an additional argument to his motions. He contended that the Allen charge, "is unduly coercive and that is another basis for my objection and request for a mistrial." (R. p. 505, ll 19-21). The trial court noted the argument for the record.

Before the jury came back with a verdict, defense counsel had noted on the record that at around 11:08 a.m., he requested the court declare a mistrial, and the court had denied the motion at that time. (R. p. 506). Taylor further noted that the reasons listed for the mistrial were the other denial of motions for mistrial, and his renewal of the objection to the Allen charge. Taylor also reasoned that the delay after the Allen charge and the jury reaching a verdict warranted a mistrial. The court noted that Taylor was protected on the record regarding the motion. (R. p.506).

The jury returned to the courtroom at 11:43 a.m. and issued its verdicts. (R. pp. 507-08).

After the jury was released, Taylor renewed his objections regarding the Allen charge and continuation of the trial. (R. p. 517). He also requested a mistrial. (R. p. 517). The trial court denied the motion on the same basis as it had previously articulated. (R. p. 517).

Discussion

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Taylor's motion for a mistrial. The charge was properly given after the jury had indicated it had reached an impasse after seven hours of deliberations.

The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial judge and will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Crim, 327 S.C. 254, 257, 489 S.E.2d 478, 479 (1997); State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 226, 522 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct.App.1999). Appellate courts have favored the exercise of wide discretion of the trial judge in determining the merits of such motion in each individual case. State v. Howard, 296 S.C. 481, 483, 374 S.E.2d 284, 285 (1988). "It is only in cases of abuse of discretion which result in prejudice that this court will intervene and grant a new trial." State v. Key, 256 S.C. 90, 94, 180 S.E.2d 888, 890 (1971). "A mistrial should only be granted in cases of manifest necessity and with the greatest caution for very plain and obvious reasons." Patterson, 337 S.C. at 227, 522 S.E.2d at 851; see also State v. Wasson, 299 S.C. 508, 386 S.E.2d 255 (1989); State v. Kirby, 269 S.C. 25, 28, 236 S.E.2d 33, 34 (1977) ("The power of a court to declare a mistrial ought to be used with the greatest caution under urgent circumstances, and for very plain and obvious causes.").

"The trial judge has a duty to urge the jury to reach a verdict but he may not coerce them." State v. Singleton, 319 S.C. 312, 316, 460 S.E.2d 573, 575 (1995). An Allen charge is given by a court when the jury has reached an impasse in its deliberations and is unable to reach a consensus. United States v. Burgos, 55 F.3d 933, 935-36 (4th Cir.1995); Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896). The decision

to give such a charge is within the discretion of the trial or sentencing court. Burgos, 55 F.3d at 935. “[T]he trial judge who is in the best position to observe the jury's demeanor should have some flexibility in guiding a case to its final resolution while protecting the parties' rights to a fair, impartial, and conscientious verdict.” Buff v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 342 S.C. 416, 422, 537 S.E.2d 279, 282 (2000).

Here, the jury initially started its deliberations at approximately 12:00 p.m. on March 3. (R. 495). The jury received additional instructions in response to a question at 1:43 p.m., and the jury resumed its deliberations shortly after 1:50 p.m. (R. 496-98). The jury's deliberations ended on March 3 at approximately 7:20 p.m., which was the recess after the jury sent its note indicating it had reached an impasse. (R. 498-99). In total, the jury deliberated for approximately seven hours and thirteen minutes before the Allen charge was given. It was well within the Court's discretion to find that an Allen charge was appropriate under these circumstances. See generally State v. Tillman, 304 S.C. 512, 521, 405 S.E.2d 607, 613 (Ct.App.1991) (finding Allen charge was timely when jury indicated deadlock after four hours of deliberations). As a result, it was not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to deny Taylor's request for a mistrial.

The trial court also did not err in the Allen charge it provided to the jury. The instruction was not unconstitutionally coercive.

The test for determining whether a given charge is unconstitutionally coercive is fact intensive. Tucker v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 483, 491, 552 S.E.2d 712, 716 (2001).

“An Allen charge is an instruction advising deadlocked jurors to have deference to each other's views, that they should listen, with a disposition to be convinced, to each other's arguments.” State v. Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 418 n. 1, 649 S.E.2d 41, 57 n. 1 (Ct.App.2007) (internal quotation marks omitted), aff'd, 387 S.C. 310, 692 S.E.2d 895 (2010). “In South Carolina state courts, an Allen charge cannot be directed to the

minority voters on the jury panel.” Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 194, 569 S.E.2d 318, 323 (2002). “Instead, an Allen charge should be even-handed, directing both the majority and the minority to consider the other's views.” Id. “A trial judge has a duty to urge, but not coerce, a jury to reach a verdict.” Id.

“Whether an Allen charge is unconstitutionally coercive must be judged in its context and under all the circumstances.” Dawson v. State, 352 S.C. 15, 20, 572 S.E.2d 445, 447 (2002) (internal quotation marks omitted). In determining whether an Allen charge is unconstitutionally coercive, a court should look to whether (1) the charge spoke specifically to the minority juror(s); (2) the judge included in his charge any language such as “You have got to reach a decision in this case;” (3) there was an inquiry into the jury's numerical division, which is generally coercive; and (4) whether the jury returned a verdict shortly after the supplemental charge, which suggests a possibility of coercion; and if so, whether the fact that trial counsel did not object either to the inquiry into whether the jurors believed further deliberation would result in a verdict, nor to the supplemental charge. Tucker, 346 S.C. at 492, 552 S.E.2d at 716 (citing Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231, 237, 108 S.Ct. 546, 550-51 (1988)); see State v. Williams, 386 S.C. 503, 512, 690 S.E.2d 62, 66-67 (2010), cert. denied, 131 S. Ct. 230, 178 L. Ed. 2d 153 (2010); see Workman v. State, 412 S.C. 128, 130, 771 S.E.2d 636, 638 (2015) (recognizing adoption of Tucker factors in non-capital case to determine whether an Allen charge is unconstitutionally coercive).

In South Carolina state courts, an Allen charge cannot be directed to the minority voters on the jury panel. Instead, an Allen charge should be even-handed, directing both the majority and the minority to consider the other's views. A trial judge has a duty to urge, but not coerce, a jury to reach a verdict. It is not coercion to charge every juror has a right to his own opinion and need not give up the opinion merely to reach a verdict.

Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 194, 569 S.E.2d 318, 323 (2002) (citations omitted).

The charge given in Taylor's case was not unconstitutionally coercive, especially when considered in the context of all of the circumstances presented at trial. First, the charge did not speak specifically to the minority jurors. To the contrary, the charge given requested the jurors in the majority to consider the views of the jurors in the minority and vice versa. The trial court instructed, "[b]ut those of you who are in the majority should listen to the people in the minority. Those of you who are in the minority should listen to the people in the majority. You should take into consideration your respective positions and you should come to a decision in this matter." (R. p. 503, l 22 – p. 504, l 2). Nothing else in the trial court's instructions could be construed as being directed solely at the minority jurors. First, unlike in Tucker, the instructions that were given were not directed towards the minority jurors. In Tucker, there was one holdout juror at the time the Allen charge was given. As part of the instruction that was given that reflected its direction towards the minority, the trial court in Tucker instructed the jury,

It was never intended that the verdict of the jury should be the view of any one person. On the other hand, the verdict of the jury is the collective reasoning of all of the men and women serving on the panel. That's why we have a jury, so that we may have the benefit of collective thought and of collective reasoning.

Tucker, 346 S.C. at 493, 552 S.E.2d at 71 (emphasis added). The instructions in this case never targeted the minority jurors in a similar way.

Second, the trial court did not include any language that required the jury to reach a decision. After the court was made aware of the impasse by the jury's note, he sent the jury home for the evening. (R. p. 499). When the trial court gave its Allen charge the next day, the court advised the jury that if it was unable to reach a verdict;

the case would have to be retried with some additional expense to the state and county. The court only once indicated the jurors should take into consideration their respective positions and that they should come to a decision. (R. p. 503, l 25 – p. 504, l 2). It was clear from the trial court's instruction that the jury was not required to reach a verdict. Further, "[i]t is not coercion when a trial judge instructs the jury that failure to reach a verdict will require a new trial at additional expense". State v. Singleton, 319 S.C. 312, 316, 460 S.E.2d 573, 575–76 (1995) (citing State v. Ayers, 284 S.C. 266, 325 S.E.2d 579 (Ct.App.1985)); see also State v. Pauling, 322 S.C. 95, 99, 470 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1996).

Third, the trial court did not inquire into the jury's numerical division. Here, the jury informed the trial court of the division voluntarily when it informed the court that it reached an impasse. (Court Exhibit #4; R. p. 529). That the judge was aware of the numerical division did not render the charge coercive. "[I]t is not necessarily coercive to give an Allen charge even though the jury reports it is deadlocked eleven to one." State v. Williams, 344 S.C. 260, 264-65, 543 S.E.2d 260, 263 (2001) (citing State v. Jones, 320 S.C. 555, 558-59, 466 S.E.2d 733, 734-35 (Ct.App.1996) (concluding the trial court gave a proper Allen charge even though the jury sent a note stating it was "hung 11 to 1" because the charge, taken as a whole, was not coercive)); see also Williams, 386 S.C. at 515, 690 S.E.2d at 68 (finding no coercion when jury disclosed numerical division without solicitation). Again, nothing in the trial court's instruction reflected that it utilized the information contained in the note in directing its instructions towards the minority view on the jury.

Fourth, the timing of the jury verdict in relation to the instruction was not suggestive of coercion in light of the timing of the jury deliberations. The jury initially started its deliberations at approximately 12:00 p.m. on March 3. (R. p. 495). The jury received additional instructions in response to a question at 1:43 p.m., and the jury resumed its deliberations shortly after 1:50 p.m. (R. pp. 496-98). The jury's deliberations ended on March 3 at approximately 7:20 p.m., which was the recess after the jury sent its note indicating it had reached an impasse. (R. pp. 498-99).

The next morning, the jury received the Allen charge beginning at 9:05 a.m. and ending at 9:10 a.m. (R. pp. 502-04). Taylor placed an objection on the record at approximately 11:08 a.m. (R. p. 506). The jury rendered its verdict at 11:43 a.m. (R. p. 507). In total, the jury deliberated for approximately seven hours and thirteen minutes before the Allen charge was given, and another two hours and thirty minutes after the Allen charge was given. The timing is not reflective of the charge being coercive. See Tillman, 304 S.C. at 521, 405 S.E.2d at 613 (finding jury verdict given one hour and fifteen minutes after Allen charge not result of coercion from charge); Williams, 344 S.C. at 265, 543 S.E.2d at 263 (finding Allen charge not coercive where deliberations after Allen charge lasted approximately two hours and twenty minutes, and total deliberation time was six hours); but see Workman, 412 S.C. at 132, 771 S.E.2d at 639 (finding deliberations of less than 2 hours after receipt of Allen charge was result of coercion when other factors reflected Allen charge was targeted towards jurors in the minority view). The jury deliberation timing is also distinguishable from the circumstances presented in Tucker. In Tucker, the Supreme Court found that the one and one-half hours spent by the jury was a short amount of time in comparison to the length of time

the minority juror had held out prior to the Allen charge. Tucker, 346 S.C. at 494, 552 S.E.2d at 718. In Taylor's case, the jury had deliberated for a little over seven hours before the Allen charge was given, and it further deliberated for another two and one-half hours after the instruction. The amount of time the jury spent deliberating after the charge was given is indicative that the jury did not find the charge coercive.

Taylor's reliance upon language from State v. Pauling is misplaced. Taylor asserts the Allen charge here was coercive because it did not include language that the jurors should not "give up any well-founded conscientious convictions." First, Respondent would note that this argument is not preserved for appellate review. At no point did Taylor present this argument as an objection on the record to the Allen charge that was given. The only request Taylor did make was to ask the judge to instruct the jury that a hung jury is a legitimate end of the trial. Since Taylor did not present this argument at trial, it is not preserved for appellate review. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct.App.2003); see State v. Perez, 334 S.C. 563, 565-66, 514 S.E.2d 754, 755 (1999) (issue not raised and ruled upon by trial court is procedurally barred and not preserved for appeal); see also State v. Tucker, 319 S.C. 425, 428, 462 S.E.2d 263, 265 (1995) (party cannot argue one ground below and then another on appeal).

Second, Pauling does not hold that an Allen charge must include the language relied upon by Taylor to not be coercive. The language Taylor contends was missing from his charge was presented in the first of two Allen charges that were given in Pauling, and the language was not specifically challenged in Pauling. Pauling, 322 S.C. at 97, 470 S.E.2d at 108 (1996). Under the circumstances presented in Pauling, the

phrasing was just a part of the reasoning the Allen charge was not found to be coercive. Pauling is just a reminder that the test for determining whether a given charge is unconstitutionally coercive is fact intensive, and different forms of charges are acceptable depending upon the context in which they are given and the surrounding circumstances.

Altogether, the Allen charge that was given by the trial court in this case was not unconstitutionally coercive. The charge was not directed towards the minority jurors, it did not require the jury to reach a verdict, it was not preceded by a request by the judge for the numerical division, and the duration of the jury's deliberation process reflects the jury was not improperly coerced by the instruction. Since the instruction was not unconstitutionally coercive, the trial court did not err in denying the motion for a mistrial.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny Taylor's appeal and affirm his convictions for murder, two counts of attempted murder, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime.